1977

National Farmers Union Property and Casualty Company v. Wesern Casualty and Surety Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action by the plaintiff - appellant, National Farmers Union Property and Casualty Company, against the defendant - respondent, Western Casualty and Surety Company, under a theory of equitable and conventional subrogation and/or contribution, to recover proportionate share of monies paid in settlement of a tort claim.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

There being no real dispute as to the facts of this case, both parties made Motions for Summary Judgment and filed Memorandums of Points and Authorities with respect thereto. Both Motions were heard by Judge Dean E. Conder on the 9th day of June, 1977. Based

upon the written and oral arguments, the Court ordered that appellant's Motion for Summary Judgment be denied and that respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment be granted.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks to have the Order granting respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment and denying appellant's Motion for Summary Judgment set aside and further seeks a Judgment in its favor and against the respondent.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant issued a General Liability-Automobile Policy No. E42-6016A to Weber County Sheriff's Mounted Posse providing for bodily injury limits of \$50,000.00 per person and \$100,000.00 per occurrence subject to the applicable limit per person and that said policy was in force and effect on June 15, 1972.

Respondent issued a Homeowners Policy No. CH 94 70 59 to Brent G. Story & Ila S. Story providing for bodily injury and liability coverage of \$25,000.00 per occurrence and medical payments to others of \$500.00 per person and said policy of insurance was in force and effect on June 15, 1972.

At all times material herein, Brent G. Story was the Captain of the Weber County Sheriff's Mounted Posse and in that capacity had the right to control and did in fact control the members of said Posse and had overall general supervision of the conduct of the members of the Posse at all practice drills and parades and other

performances.

On June 15, 1972, the Weber County Sheriff's Mounted Posse was conducting a practice drill on its grounds near Harrisville, Weber County, State of Utah. At that time, Brent G. Story was present and functioning in his capacity as Captain of the Weber County Sheriff's Mounted Posse. Some of the Posse members had completed the drill, but others were still in the process of drilling at 9:30 P. M. when one of the horses owned by Afton LeRoy Cheney escaped from the grounds, ran through an open gate on to the highway and was there struck by a motor vehicle in which Arthur E. Haggen, Jr. was riding as a passenger.

As a result of that collision, Arthur E. Haggen, Jr. was permanently paralyzed from the neck down. Arthur E. Haggen, Jr. filed a lawsuit in the District Court of Weber County naming, among others, as defendants Afton LeRoy Cheney, Brent G. Story and the Weber County Sheriff's Mounted Posse. The case was settled for the sum of \$50,000.00.

Based upon the amount prayed for by Arthur E. Haggen, Jr. in his Complaint, and the insurance policy limits of the Weber County Sheriff's Mounted Posse, Afton LeRoy Cheney and Brent G. Story, the Weber County Sheriff's Mounted Posse was to pay fifty percent (50%) of the settlement or \$25,000.00, Afton LeRoy Cheney was to pay twenty-five percent (25%) of the settlement or \$12,500.00 and Brent G. Story was to pay twenty-five percent (25%) of the settlement or \$12,500.00.

Pursuant to the settlement agreement, appellant, the insurance carrier for the Weber County Sheriff's Mounted Posse, paid Arthur E. Haggren, Jr. \$50,000.00. Subsequently, appellant has recovered \$12,500.00 from the insurance carrier of Afton LeRoy Chet representing his pro rata share. However, the respondent, the insurance carrier of Brent G. Story, has not, as yet, paid its proportionate share to the appellant.

Coverage under either insurance policy is not in dispute. The question is one of determining the relative liability of two insurance companies providing concurrent coverage for the same loss. The "pro rata liability" provision of Brent G. Story's insurance policy with respondent reads:

This Company shall not be liable for a greater proportion of any loss than the amount hereby insured shall bear to the whole insurance covering the property against the peril involved, whether collectible or not.

The "other insurance" provision of Weber County Sheriff's Mounted Posse's insurance policy with appellant reads:

The insurance afforded by this policy is primary insurance, except when stated to apply in excess of or contingent upon the absence of other insurance. When this insurance is primary and the insured has other insurance which is stated to be applicable to the loss on an excess or contingent basis, the amount of the company's liability under this policy shall not be reduced by the existence of such other insurance.

When both this insurance and other insurance apply to the loss on the same basis, whether primary, excess or contingent, the company shall

not be liable under this policy for a greater proportion of the loss than that stated in the applicable contribution provision below:

* * * *

(b) Contribution by Limits. If any of such other insurance does not provide for contribution by equal shares, the company shall not be liable for a greater proportion of such loss than the applicable limit of liability under this policy for such loss bears to the total applicable limit of liability of all valid and collectible insurance against such loss. [Emphasis added.]

ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES

POINT I

WHERE THERE IS CONCURRENT INSURANCE COVERAGE AND THE "OTHER INSURANCE" CLAUSE OF ONE LIABILITY POLICY CONFLICTS WITH A SIMILAR CLAUSE OF THE OTHER LIABILITY POLICY, REGARDLESS OF THE NATURE OF THE CLAUSE, THE CLAUSES ARE MUTUALLY REPUGNANT AND THE INSURERS SHOULD BE REQUIRED TO SHARE THE LOSS IN PROPORTION TO THE LIMITS OF THEIR RESPECTIVE POLICIES.

Generally "other insurance" clauses take one of the following three forms: (1) Pro rata clauses which provide that the insurer will be liable only for a pro rata share of the loss, usually in proportion to the limits of liability of its policy in relation to the limits of liability of all other valid and collectible insurance;¹ (2) excess clauses which

1. See: Lamb-Weston, Inc. v. Oregon Auto. Ins. Co., 219 Ore. 110, 118, 341 P.2d 110, 114 (1959):

If the insured has other insurance against a loss covered by this policy the Company shall not be liable under this policy for a greater proportion of such loss than the applicable limit of liability . . . bears to the total applicable limit of all valid and collectible insurance.

provide that the insurer will be liable for any loss which exceeds the limits of liability of all other valid and collectible insurance;² and (3) escape clauses which provide that the policy affords no coverage if other insurance is available.³ In addition, some policies contain combinations of the above types: to wit, (1) escape-excess which provides that if other valid and collectible insurance covering a specific loss exists then the insurer will be liable only for any loss which exceeds the limits of liability of said other specific, valid and collectible insurance;⁴ (2) pro rata-escape which provide that the insurer will be liable only for a pro rata share of the loss under certain conditions and that the policy affords no coverage if other valid and collectible insurance

2. Id. at 118, 341 P.2d at 114: "If the Insured's liability under this policy is covered by any other valid and collectable insurance, this policy shall act as excess insurance over and above such other insurance."

3. See: New Amsterdam Cas. Co. v. Hartford Accident & Indem. Co., 18 F. Supp. 707, 709 (W.D. Ky. 1937):

If any other Assured included in this insurance is covered by valid and collectable insurance against a claim also covered by this Policy, he shall not be entitled to protection under this Policy.

4. See: Insurance Co. of Texas v. Employers Liab. Assurance Corp., 163 F. Supp. 143, 144 (S.D. Cal. 1958):

If other valid insurance exists protecting the insured from liability for such bodily injury . . . or destruction of property, this policy shall be null and void with respect to such specific hazard otherwise covered, whether the insured is specifically named in such other policy or not; provided, however, that if the applicable limit of liability of this policy exceeds the applicable limit of such other valid insurance, then this policy shall apply as excess insurance against such hazard in an amount equal to the applicable limit of liability of this policy minus the applicable limit of liability of such other insurance.

is available under other conditions;⁵ and (3) pro rata-excess which provides that under certain conditions the insurer will be liable only for a pro rata share of the loss, while under other conditions, the insurer will be liable for any loss which exceeds the limits of liability of all other valid and collectible insurance.⁶

The principle case presents one of the most common situations where concurrent insurance coverage exists and there is a conflict between the "other insurance" clauses. Respondent's "other insurance" clause is one of the pure pro rata types which provides that the insurer will be liable only for a pro rata share of the loss. On the other hand, appellant's "other insurance" clause seems to be of the "primary-pro rata" variety which provides primary insurance unless other valid and collectible insurance applies to the loss on the same

5. See: New Amsterdam Cas. Co. v. Hartford Accident & Indem. Co., 18 F. Supp. 707, 709 (W.D. Ky. 1937):

If the named Assured carries any other Insurance covering concurrently a claim covered by this Policy, he shall not recover from the Company a larger proportion of any such claim than the sum hereby insured bears to the whole amount of valid and collectable concurrent insurance. If any other Assured included in this insurance is covered by valid and collectable insurance against a claim also covered by this Policy, he shall not be entitled to protection under this Policy.

6. Allstate Ins. Co. v. American Underwriters, Inc., 312 F. Supp. 1386 (N. D. Ind. 1970)

If there is other insurance . . .

Allstate shall not be liable under this Part I [bodily injury and property damage] for a greater proportion of any loss than the applicable limit of liability stated on the Supplement Page bears to the total applicable limit of liability of all collectible insurance against such loss; provided, however, the insurance with respect to a temporary substitute automobile or a non-owned automobile shall be excess insurance over any other collectible insurance.

basis in which event the insurer will be liable only for a pro rata share of the loss.

Initially, several theories were used to resolve the conflicting "other insurance" clause problem. Out of property law concepts, courts developed the "prior-in-time" theory which assigned primary liability to the insurer whose policy first became effective. The case of New Amsterdam Casualty Company v. Hartford Accident & Indemnity Company, 108 F. 2d 653 (6th Cir. 1940) and the case of Air Transportation Manufacturing Company v. Employers Liability Assurance Corporation, 91 Cal. App. 2d 129, 204 P. 2d 647 (1949) are representative of this view. It is doubtful that any jurisdiction follows this approach today, since courts were quick to realize that this particular inquiry was irrelevant where each policy was in effect at the time the liability arose.

Under the "primary tortfeasor" theory courts held the insurer primarily liable in whose policy the tortfeasor was the named insured. See: Commercial Casualty Insurance Company v. Hartford Accident & Indemnity Company, 190 Minn. 528, 252 N. W. 434 (1934); and American Automobile Insurance Company v. Pennsylvania Mutual Indemnity Company, 161 F. 2d 62 (3d Cir. 1947). More often than not, this theory has been rejected on the grounds that liability policies are usually purchased with the intent of covering persons not specifically named, and because the negligent party frequently is not named in either policy. See: Oregon Automobile Insurance Company v. United States Fidelity & Guaranty Company, 195 F. 2d 958 (9th Cir. 1962); and

Hardware Dealers Mutual Fire Insurance Company v. Farmers Insurance Exchange, 444 S. W. 2d 583, 587 (Tex. 1969).

Finally, what was commonly referred to as the "Pennsylvania rule" and more particularly as the "specific-general coverage" theory which determined the primary insurer on the basis of which policy provided more specific coverage of the insured's loss. This theory has also been rejected on numerous occasions. See: Oregon Automobile Insurance Company v. United States Fidelity & Guaranty Company, supra; Consolidated Shippers, Inc. v. Pacific Employers Insurance Company, 45 Cal. App. 2d 288, 114 P. 2d 34 (1941); Employers Liability Assurance Corporation v. Pacific Employers Ins. Co., 102 Cal. App. 2d 188, 227 P. 2d 53 (1951); Hardware Dealers Mutual Fire Insurance Company v. Farmers Insurance Exchange, supra; Union Insurance Company v. Iowa Hardware Mutual Insurance Company, 175 N. W. 2d 413, 417 (Iowa 1970); and Continental Casualty Company v. Sutfenfield, 236 F. 2d 433, 438 (5th Cir. 1956). Nevertheless, a majority and minority position have emerged with regard to the determination of the relative liability of two insurance companies providing concurrent coverage for the same loss. It is our position that the recent trend favoring the minority rule is indicative of the better view. But, in any event, appellant is entitled to recover under either theory.

According to the majority view, the relative liability of insurers is determined on a primary and secondary basis through a construction of the "other insurance" clauses. The basic premise of the majority rule is that conflicting "other insurance" clauses are

amenable to the usual rules of interpretation of insurance contracts for determining the intention of the parties. The case most often cited in support of the majority view is Zurich General Accident & Liability Insurance Company v. Clamor, 124 F. 2d 717 (7th Cir. 1941). In short, the majority view rests ultimately on the language of the "other insurance" provision and reconciliation of any conflict which may exist is subject to the draftsmanship of the various insurance provisions.

Under the minority view, courts have held that where concurrent insurance policies carry like "other insurance" clauses they are mutually repugnant and should be disregarded. Apportionment is to be prorated with regard both to damages and to the expense of defending the lawsuit. The leading representative of the minority view is Oregon Automobile Insurance Company v. United States Fidelity & Guaranty Company, 195 F. 2d 958 (9th Cir. 1962). In that case, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals was faced with conflicting excess and escape clauses on two automobile insurance policies. The insurer whose policy contained the escape clause appealed from a judgment assigning primary liability to it. The basis of the lower court decision was that the insurance policy containing the excess clause constituted "other insurance" to effectuate the escape clause. The Circuit Court reversed that decision and held that liability should be prorated among the insurers thereby specifically rejecting the majority view as a means to reconcile concurrent liability. At one point, the court stated:

In our opinion the "other insurance" provisions of the two policies are indistinguishable in meaning and intent. One cannot rationally choose between them. . . . Here, where both policies carry like "other insurance" provisions, we think they must be held mutually repugnant and hence be disregarded. Our conclusion is that such view affords the only rational solution of the dispute in this case. The proration is to be applied in respect both of damages and of the expense of defending the suits. (at 960)

The minority position rejects the theory that "other insurance" clauses are reconcilable through interpretation. In the case of Union Insurance Company v. Iowa Hardward Mutual Insurance Company, supra, the court stated that attempting to reconcile conflicting clauses, by attempting to assign primary and secondary liability on the basis of the language of the provisions, was "at best a pseudo-solution in that it only aggravates a circular riddle."

In another recent case involving conflicting "other insurance" provisions of two automobile insurance policies, the court in Allstate Insurance Company v. American Underwriters, Inc., supra, rejected the majority view and adopted the minority position stating:

Cases of this type cannot be resolved either by a literal reading of the language used or by an inquiry into intent.

* * * *

And the only way to effectuate the intent of both companies would be by holding neither liable--a result which would obviously be contrary to public policy. Under the circumstances, the only fair solution, and the one

which this court believes would be adopted by the Indiana courts, is to find the excess clause and the escape clause mutually repugnant, and to require the two insurers to share the loss in proportion to the limits of their respective policies. (at 1388)

Two recent Law Review articles have outlined the advantages of the minority view. See: 20 Hastings Law Journal, 1292, 1304 (1969) Conflicts Between "Other Insurance" Clauses in Automobile Liability Insurance Policies; and 1971 Indiana Law Journal, 270-285, Resolution of Conflicting "Other Insurance" Clauses: New Developments in Indiana. At various times, the following have been cited as advantages of the minority position: (1) It avoids circular reasoning, depending as it were, on which policy one happens to read first; (2) it avoids the difficulty of searching for the intent of insurers through a construction of the clauses when they are but "fortuitous adversaries" with no privity of contract existing between them; (3) it recognizes the self-evident fact that the intentions of both the insurers are, in fact, to reduce or eliminate liability in this instance; (4) arguably, under the majority view, the rights of the insured become badly obscured, if not defeated, by the contractual contest engaged in by casualty insurers; (5) the majority view encourages the continuing battle of draftsmanship of still more specific policy terms; (6) the minority view does not arbitrarily pick one of the conflicting clauses and give effect to it; (7) it does not deprive the insured of any coverage; (8) it is not prejudicial in giving a windfall to one insurer at the expense of another; (9) it does

not encourage litigation between insurers; (10) it does not delay settlements; (11) it does enable underwriters to predict the losses of the insurers more accurately; (12) it does preclude the use of illogical rules developed by the various courts (e. g., first in time, specific v. general and primary tort feason doctrines); (13) and it does give a basis for uniformity of result; (14) in addition, prorating the loss among all insurers is a rule that can be applied regardless of the number of insurers involved and regardless of the type of conflicts that are created by the "other insurance" clauses; and (15) finally, the rule is simpler, more convenient and easier to apply than the majority rule. The philosophy underlying the minority rule is best articulated in the case of Fireman's Insurance Company v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Insurance Company, 243 Ore. 10, 411 P. 2d 271, 274 (1966) wherein it states:

This court believes it is good public policy not to put an insured plaintiff, or a defendant who is fortunate enough to have duplicate coverage, in a position where there is any possibility one insurer can say, "After you, my dear Alphonse!" while the other says, "Oh, no, after you, my dear Gaston." They must walk arm in arm through the door of responsibility.

In Russell v. Paulson, 18 Utah 2d 157, 417 P. 2d 658 (1966) the Utah Supreme Court adopted the majority rule, as described, with regard to the construction of "other insurance" provisions of uninsured motorist automobile coverage. That case involved conflicting "excess" and "pro rata" clauses. Specifically, the court stated:

Where there is a conflict between a pro rata and an excess "other insurance" clause, a majority of the courts have imposed primary liability on the pro rata insurer and hold the excess insurer responsible only for secondary coverage of the loss.

* * * *

Plaintiff urges this court to adopt a minority view that the "other insurance" provisions are mutually repugnant because there is no rational basis to find United has primary liability and therefore each company should pay a pro rata share of the judgment up to the limits of the policies. This is evidently the view adopted by the lower court.

* * * *

. . . [W]e are constrained to adopt the majority rule which imposes primary liability on the pro rata insurer and secondary liability on the excess insurer. (at 660-661)

Justice Crockett in a concurring opinion noted the following:

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