1977

National Farmers Union Property and Casualty Company v. Western Casualty and Surety Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES

POINT I.

PLAINTIFF IS NOT ENTITLED TO RECOVER ANY AMOUNT FROM DEFENDANT UNDER A THEORY OF SUBROGATION OR CONTRIBUTION BECAUSE AN INSURER MAY NOT RECOVER FROM ITS OWN INSURED OR CO-INSURED.

In the Declaration of plaintiff's insurance policy, the named insured, Weber County Sheriff's Mounted Posse, is identified as a corporation, and in light of that, Brent G. Story, as captain of the Sheriff's Posse, is an insured under plaintiff's policy, which reads as follows: Section 2, Persons Insured:

"Each of the following is an insured under this insurance to the extent set forth below:

. . .

"(c) If the named insured is designated in the Declarations as other than an individual, partnership or joint venture, the organization so designated and any executive officer, director or stockholder thereof while acting within the scope of his duties as such." (emphasis added)

In light of this language there is no question therefore, that both the Posse and Brent G. Story as an officer of the Posse were co-insureds under plaintiff's policy. Under the holding of a very recent Utah Supreme Court decision, it is now clear that in Utah an insurer may not bring an action against one of its co-insureds under a theory of subrogation.

In Board of Education of Jordan School District v. Hales, 566 P. 2d 1247 (Utah July 5, 1977), the plaintiff, Board of Education, had entered into a contractual arrangement with the general contractor, Paulsen and Christiansen (not parties to that action), for the construction of Bingham High School. Plaintiff then obtained a "builders risk" insurance policy insuring the interests of the Board of Education, the general contractor specifically named, and "subcontractors". The general contractor then entered into a subcontract with defendants in that action. Sometime later a fire broke out at the construction site and under the policy the plaintiff's insurance carriers paid claims amounting to \$58,824.00, of which \$720.00 was paid to defendants.

Plaintiffs' insurance carriers, then instituted an action in subrogation against defendant whom they alleged was liable under a theory of negligence for the loss caused by the fire. They were attempting to collect from defendants

all of the money paid out by the insurance carriers except for the \$720.00 paid to defendants. The trial court granted a summary judgment in favor of defendants and the Supreme Court affirmed on the basis that an insurance carrier may not maintain a subrogation action against a co-insured. In this decision, the court merely adopted a generally recognized legal principle and made the following observations:

"Yet courts have consistently held that where an insurance company attempts to recover, as a subrogee, from a co-insured generally covered under a fire insurance policy, the action must fail in the absence of design or fraud on the part of the co-insured.

. . .
"An insurer which accepts a premium based partially on the inclusion of a co-insured under a policy of insurance has assumed the risk of its negligence. We agree with the reasoning of Mr. Justice Guittard, in his dissenting opinion in the McBroom case, (515 S.W. 2d 32 Texas 1974): "The insurer, which has accepted one premium covering the entire property and has assumed the risk of the negligence of each insured party, ought not to be allowed to shift the risk to any one of them." [515 S.W. 2d, p. 44]

"We hold that the District Court properly entered summary judgment on the ground that an insurance carrier may not maintain a subrogation action against a party insured under its policy. . . ."

One case that is often cited throughout the country for the principle enunciated in Board of Education, is Home Insurance Co. v. Pinski Brothers Inc., 500 P.2d 945 (Montana 1972). In that case the insurers who had paid off an extensive amount on property damage loss brought an action against an architect firm whom they alleged was the negligent party. The architect firm was insured through an indemnity firm which the court found was really the same corporate entity as the plaintiff-insurer. In holding that the insurer in this case could not bring a subrogation action against the

architects, the court elaborated on some of the policy reasons for this general rule:

"To permit the insurer to sue its own insured for a liability covered by the insurance policy would violate these basic equity principles, as well as violate sound public policy. Such action, if permitted, would (1) allow the insurer to expend premiums collected from its insured to secure a judgment against the same insured on a risk insured against; (2) give judicial sanction to the breach of the insurance policy by the insurer; (3) permit the insurer to secure information from its insured under the guise of policy provisions available for later use in the insurer's subrogation action against its own insured; (4) allow the insurer to take advantage of its conduct and conflict of interest with its insured; and (5) constitute judicial approval of a breach of the insurer's relationship with its own insured." 500 P.2d at 949.

As in the Board of Education case, the court in Pinski Brothers affirmed the summary judgment granted to the defendant at the trial court level.

For further elaboration on the generally recognized principle that an insurer cannot bring an action against one of its co-insureds, see Bucoda Trailer Park, Inc. v. State, 561 P.2d 1100 (Wash. 1977); 16 Couch on Insurance 2d, §61:133; and, 6A Appleman, Insurance Law and Practice, §4055.

Although the Board of Education and the other cases cited above involved actions directly against the co-insured, it is of course a logical and rational extension of the holding of those cases that an action against an additional insurer of the co-insured would also be precluded. In United States Fire Ins. Co. v. Beach, 275 So.2d 473 (La. App. 1973), the Louisiana Court considered a case very similar to the facts of the Utah Board of Education case. Some \$54,000.00 had apparently been paid out by United States Fire Insurance Company (USFIC) on a claim for fire loss on a policy

covering a building under construction. USFIC brought an action against the general contractor, the subcontractor and the general contractor's liability insurer under a theory of subrogation. The plaintiff-insurer alleged that the fire was caused by the negligence of both the general contractor and the subcontractor. The trial court granted a summary judgment in favor of the defendants under the theory that the defendants were co-insureds under the plaintiff's policy and therefore the plaintiff could not bring an action against them in subrogation. The principal issue on appeal was whether the defendants were in fact insureds under the policy. The Appellate Court sustained the trial court's finding that the defendants were co-insureds under the policy, and held that the insurer therefore had no right or cause of action against any of the defendants. This case is important to note because the court recognized that an action against the alleged negligent party's insurer cannot be brought unless an action could be brought against the negligent party itself.

All of the foregoing cases are strong support for defendants' contention that plaintiff has no right to bring an action against its co-insured, Brent G. Story. It follows that, if an action against Story is precluded by this general principle, then the same action would be barred against Story's insurer, the defendant in this case. This last point is further illustrated in the case of Miller v. Kurak, 90 N.W.2d 137 (Wis. 1956), in which the plaintiff while driving his automobile was struck from behind by a truck driven by Martin Kurak. The plaintiff had brought an action against Kurak and the owners of the truck of which Kurak was a partner. Also included as defendants were the lessee of

policy and the insurer of the lessee. During the course of litigation the insurer
the lessee had paid a judgment entered against the lessee and was attempting
subrogation or indemnity from the owners of the truck under the theory that
they were liable for the negligence of Kuyak. The partnership contended that
they owed no liability to the lessee's insurer because the driver of the truck
truck was a co-insured in the policy issued to the lessee. The Wisconsin
court upheld the owners' contention holding that the right to proceed against
the partnership owners is contingent upon the right to proceed against its
employee and that such right was barred because the employee was a co-
insured under the insurer's policy. The court stated:

Since Dodson, insurer, cannot recover from Martin Kuyak
individually, it follows that he cannot recover from Walske
Transfer. Whether Walske Transfer be considered as Kuyak's
employer for whose torts it may be liable under the doctrine
of respondent superior or as a partnership liable for the
torts of a partner in the course of the partnership business,
any liability of Walske is derived from liability on the part
of Kuyak. Kuyak not being liable because of his status as
an insured, Walske is not liable in the premises. 130 N.W.
1d at 141.

Another important issue that is resolved by the Miller v. Kuyak

case is whether an insurer such as plaintiff in the instant case can recover
from its co-insured under a theory of indemnity or contribution even though
it could not recover under a theory of subrogation. The court held in
affirmance that because the concept is the same the result should be the
same.

Finally, it is suggested that even though Dodson, insured, be barred
from subrogation, he is entitled to recover from Walske
Transfer on the theory of indemnity the tort of Walske's
employee or partner Kuyak having caused Dodson's loss.
We are satisfied, however, that the insurer cannot recover

from his own insured on the theory of indemnity any more than that of subrogation, for the same considerations that lead to denial of recovery on the one theory apply to the other. Were it otherwise, the value of insurance against liability for negligent acts would be greatly impaired. . . "90 N.W. 2d at 142.

Plaintiff has taken the position that its action against defendant arises either under a theory of subrogation or contribution. If plaintiff's action arises under the theory of contribution, then it is based upon the same principles as an action for indemnity, i.e. reimbursement is sought against one primarily liable for the loss. Consequently, as was stated in Miller, the same considerations that lead to the denial of recovery against the co-insured in a subrogation action apply in an action under the theory of contribution or indemnity.

POINT II

PLAINTIFF ISSUED A POLICY TO COVER THE PARTICULAR RISK AND LOSS INVOLVED IN THIS CASE. DEFENDANT'S POLICY PROVIDED ONLY GENERAL OR BLANKET COVERAGE. PLAINTIFF'S POLICY COVERING THE SPECIFIC RISK IS PRIMARY AND DEFENDANT'S POLICY IS EXCESS.

Even if plaintiff was entitled to bring an action against defendant as an insurer of the co-insured under plaintiff's policy, the trial court's summary judgment in favor of defendant should still be affirmed because of the specific vs. general policy rule adopted by the Utah Supreme Court, and recognized in plaintiff's brief.

The problem as identified by plaintiff's brief on this particular point is a problem of the interpretation of two insurance policies both of which except for Exclusion 1(e) of defendants policy, to cover the same risk. Both policies provide for pro-rata sharing of liability when there are two or more policies which cover the same loss on the same basis. Plaintiff's policy

"If any of such other insurance does not provide for contribution by equal shares, this company shall not be liable for a greater proportion of such loss than the applicable limit of liability under this policy for such loss bears to the total applicable limit of liability of all valid and collectible insurance against such loss."

Defendants policy reads as follows:

"This company shall not be liable for a greater proportion of any loss than the amount hereby insured shall bear to the whole insurance covering the property against the peril involved, whether collectible or not."

Where both policies cover exactly the same risk on exactly the same basis, it is, of course, consistent with basic notions of fairness that each should be liable for a pro-rata share of the loss. This is, however, not the case where the coverage does not apply on the same basis. Where one insurer has undertaken to insure one particular risk and has issued its policy to specifically cover that one particular risk, it should be held to be primary and required to bear the entire loss.

Applied to the instant case, the insurance under plaintiff's policy was obtained by Weber County Sheriff's Mounted Posse for the specific purpose of insuring against liability of the Posse and its officers, directors and stockholders while acting within the scope of their duties as such and upon the specific property mentioned in the policy plaintiff issued to the Posse. On the other hand, the insurance obtained by Brent G. Story from defendant is under a standard homeowner's policy covering fire, theft, natural disaster, and the general liability coverage for the insured and his family. In other words, defendant's policy of insurance provides what is commonly known as blanket or general insurance, and the policy of plaintiff provides specific insurance.

Plaintiff articulates very thoroughly in its brief that there is a great deal of diversity in the cases regarding the proper treatment of insurance policies, both technically covering the same risk, but the one providing blanket insurance and the other specific insurance. Many jurisdictions throughout the country refuse to recognize the distinction of specific vs. general or blanket, and instead examine the "Other Insurance" clauses of the policies and decide whether the language reveals an excess and a primary insurer or whether the language simply provides for a proportionation of liability.

Plaintiff argues that it favors what it classifies as a minority position, and that the Utah court should break loose of the precedents of the past and adopt the minority view. That view stated by plaintiff is that where there is concurrent insurance coverage and the "Other Insurance" clause of one liability policy conflicts with a similar clause of the other liability policy, the clauses are mutually repugnant and the insurers should be required to share the loss in proportion to the limits of their respective policies.

Apparently, plaintiff conglomerates a lot of other plans handed down by the courts into what it calls the "majority rule". The important point with regard to plaintiff's total discussion, is that the better reasoned rule and the one apparently adopted by the Utah Supreme Court is the one commonly known as the "Pennsylvania Rule", irrespective of where it fits in to the majority vs. minority discussion. Simply put, the Pennsylvania Rule would treat all specific insurance policies as primary insurance and blanket insurance policies as excess or secondary insurance. As the

Pennsylvania courts have stated it, under such facts there is no longer any "double insurance". Under this treatment then, plaintiff would not be entitled to come against defendant on the theory of subrogation because where the primary insurance carrier rightfully undertakes its obligation and pays all or part of the policy coverage, it has no right to be subrogated to the rights of the insured or an injured party and to recover from a secondary insurer of the same insured and the same risk.

National Farmers Union Property & Cas. Co. v. Farmers Ins. Group,

14 Utah 2d 89, 377 P.2d 786 (1963). Secondly, defendant being found an excess insurer, would not be liable to the insured under its policy as it has not obligated itself to pay anything. The insured would have no right against defendant-insurer and, therefore, it does not make sense to speak of subrogation to any right of the insured against defendant. Consequently, under the Pennsylvania Rule, plaintiff in the instant case would have no right under a theory of subrogation since it is primarily liable having covered the risk specifically, and under the theory of contribution defendant would still be immune from liability or responsibility until plaintiff's policy limit was exhausted.

The opinion in Blue Anchor Overall Co., Inc. v. Pennsylvania Lumberman's Mut. Ins. Co., 123 A. 2d 413 (Pa. 1956) explains the reasoning and application of the Pennsylvania Rule, although it deals with two fire insurance policies. In discussing the problem of apportioning the loss between the two insurers, the court said:

"For example, suppose there is a loss on one item alone, which is covered by both specific and blanket fire insurance

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